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          1  CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you for

          3  joining us today, December 12th, the Committee on

          4  Civil Service and Labor.

          5                 Today we will be having a hearing on

          6  amending Section 12-123 of the Administrative Code

          7  of the City of New York, to amend the Administrative

          8  Code of the City of New York in relation to granting

          9  voluntary leaves of absence in times of fiscal

         10  crisis.

         11                 New York City's fiscal troubles are

         12  well known. After closing a $6.4 billion budget

         13  deficit, we are once again looking at major

         14  shortfalls in this coming fiscal year.

         15                 Accordingly, creative measures to

         16  address shortfalls while maintaining essential

         17  services are at a premium. Intro. 504 attempts to

         18  provide the Council and the Administration with

         19  tools to do just this.

         20                 Specifically the bill would allow

         21  City agencies to allow their employees to apply for

         22  unpaid leaves of absence for up to two years in

         23  times of fiscal crisis.

         24                 As the bill stands right now,

         25  employees would still be entitled to health benefits
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          2  and pension credit during this leave of absence and

          3  would have the right to return to the job in the

          4  same civil service title.

          5                 This bill raises many questions. What

          6  would be the cost of paying health benefits and

          7  pension costs for employees on these leaves of

          8  absences?

          9                 The Independent Budget Office has

         10  estimated that pension costs have risen by 155

         11  percent in the last three years.

         12                 Are there other ways of changing this

         13  bill to preserve the spirit of this legislation?

         14                 We intend to explore these questions

         15  and more in today's hearing.

         16                 Joining me today is Council Member

         17  Kendall Stewart from Brooklyn, the sponsor of this

         18  bill.

         19                 Welcome, Kendall.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

         21  Mr. Chair.

         22                 I feel that in this time of fiscal

         23  crisis we can do two things: One, we can give people

         24  the option to take a leave, go and do, maybe go on a

         25  sabbatical and maybe go and write a book, whatever
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          2  they want to do, without losing the opportunity of

          3  returning within two years.

          4                 Also, we can help these same folks

          5  who may not want to just leave that position, and

          6  they may want to come back and they want to be

          7  assured that when they come back, that they have a

          8  position within the City.

          9                 I feel that this is a very good bill,

         10  in the sense that even though that the City will be

         11  responsible for the health, their health insurance,

         12  and maybe keeping the pension plan, it is a way of

         13  saying to the folks, listen, we're not going to

         14  forget you, and even if the City is saving money in

         15  the sense of not paying all the salary, at least

         16  it's reducing the amount of money it will have to

         17  spend in time of fiscal crisis.

         18                 And Mr. Chair, I would like to ask

         19  that we do what we call a mass awareness campaign,

         20  in terms of letting people know the true facts of

         21  this bill so they can understand it clearly, and

         22  that we can help our union members or workers, those

         23  folks who really build the city, and in the time of

         24  fiscal crisis we should not forget them.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you,

          3  Council Member Stewart.

          4                 Usually we call the Administration,

          5  but no one from the Administration is here, and

          6  they've sent a letter from John A. Krie, Director of

          7  Legislative Affairs. We'll enter this into the

          8  record, and I'll pass it on to Council Member

          9  Stewart for him to have it.

         10                 And I'd like to call on the first

         11  witness of the Committee, Bob Croghan, from

         12  Organization of Staff Analysts.

         13                 Just state your name for the record.

         14                 MR. CROGHAN: Bob Croghan, from the

         15  Organization of Staff Analysts.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Do you have a

         17  statement?

         18                 MR. CROGHAN: I want to thank the

         19  members of the City Council for having proposed this

         20  legislation and scheduled hearings on it.

         21                 I have a prepared statement which

         22  I'll read. I'll probably add to it but I'll read

         23  first, because this is what I'm going to give for

         24  the record.

         25                 In support of the voluntary leaves of
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          2  absence without pay, in 1991, Mayor Dinkins first

          3  called for the use of furloughs to avoid or mitigate

          4  the need for layoffs.

          5                 In response, the Organization of

          6  Staff Analysts surveyed its membership and found

          7  members willing to be furloughed without pay. The

          8  City ended up restoring all those laid off from our

          9  unions but did not establish a continuing furlough

         10  program once the fiscal crisis passed.

         11                 In 2003, Mayor Bloomberg asked unions

         12  to find ways to save money and OSA again surveyed

         13  its members. On this occasion, OSA found there were

         14  more members seeking a voluntary furlough than there

         15  were members targeted for layoffs.

         16                 Unfortunately, Mayor Bloomberg chose

         17  to refuse to grant the requested 25 voluntary

         18  furloughs and instead chose to lay off 22 innocent

         19  civil servants instead.

         20                 To this day, neither the Mayor nor

         21  any of his representatives has explained why the

         22  Mayor chose as he did.

         23                 The Organization of Staff Analysts

         24  applauds the efforts of members of the New York City

         25  Council to correct what was clearly an indefensible
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          2  and cruel mistake by the Bloomberg Administration.

          3                 If our City is in fiscal crisis,

          4  volunteers can and should be offered the chance for

          5  an unpaid vacation. It is good for the City, it is

          6  good for the workers able to afford to take the time

          7  off, and it is good for those who would otherwise be

          8  laid off.

          9                 It is bad for no one. We urge the

         10  City Council to adopt this law.

         11                 And then stepping off from the

         12  written remarks, I perhaps would like to share for a

         13  moment some of my personal frustration in the sense

         14  that way back in 1991, it was Mayor Dinkins who

         15  brought this idea up, and we actually thought, you

         16  know, there might be some merit to it, so we

         17  modified slightly to what we wanted and we said,

         18  yes, let's do it. And it was accepted finally in

         19  that administration. It was finally accepted, and it

         20  did lead to our people coming back from layoff, and

         21  those people are still working for us today.

         22                 So, here we had come up with a

         23  solution, we had actually accepted the suggestion,

         24  worked with it a little bit and improved upon it and

         25  came up with a solution.
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          2                 This time around, I must tell you, it

          3  was very upsetting to go to labor management

          4  meeting, after a labor management meeting, because I

          5  have a right as a representative of the Organization

          6  of Staff Analysts to come up with a response to

          7  avoid layoffs. That was in the contract and I was

          8  going down to the meetings.

          9                 And my answer was, okay, I have a

         10  response, I have a way for you to save the people

         11  from being laid off. I can save you every dollar

         12  that you need to have saved, and I can do it

         13  painlessly.

         14                 It's quite frustrating when you have

         15  the people on the other side of the table first

         16  trying to come up with something wrong with what

         17  you're suggesting, and finding nothing wrong with it

         18  at all, and themselves not being able to come up

         19  with an argument against it and they just sit there

         20  looking embarrassed while they're still not

         21  accepting it.

         22                 The original suggestion that we had

         23  made went even further than this. We had suggested

         24  that this we would pay our own Cobra on our health

         25  benefits and such, would cost nothing. At the end of
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          2  one of the sessions I sat there and said, listen,

          3  I've answered every question you've asked me, and

          4  you don't have any more questions to ask me because

          5  it looks like you don't find anything wrong with

          6  this.

          7                 Now let me ask you one question: Why

          8  is this Administration willing to pay $300 a week in

          9  unemployment to people being voluntarily laid off

         10  and their lives interfered with, if not ruined, why

         11  are you willing to pay money for the purpose of

         12  laying people off, when you have people willing -- a

         13  lot of times with civil service, you've already

         14  shown satisfaction, willing to take a year off and

         15  come back - why are you doing this? The answer I got

         16  back was silence. They never gave me an answer from

         17  that day to this. They have no reason not to do it,

         18  and, yet, they keep on saying that they had to do

         19  the layoffs. It would not just affect the

         20  Organization of Staff Analysts, this particular

         21  provision. If it were to go through, I have no

         22  doubts that the next time the City runs into a

         23  fiscal crisis, and we do tend to run into fiscal

         24  crises occasionally, whenever it happens, you will

         25  find the representatives are virtually all of the
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          2  middle-aged groupings, the mid-career people, in

          3  large numbers being available and capable of taking

          4  as much a year or even two off. Because it's just

          5  the nature of the situation. You take the civil

          6  service exam when you're very young. You pass it,

          7  and you take other exams. Eventually some of you are

          8  going to reach a point where you're either bored in

          9  your career, or just have some other personal

         10  reasons why you have to get away, you can't afford

         11  to get away, because if you get away, when you come

         12  back you have to start to climb that ladder all over

         13  again.

         14                 It would really be a tremendous

         15  benefit to all of the employees, it would be an

         16  assist to the morale of the City of New York.

         17                 I can't myself, after spending now 12

         18  years on this topic, find any downside, and I can't

         19  find anyone that tells me there is a downside. Of

         20  course for all of these reasons I'm deeply grateful

         21  that the City Council has chosen to take up this

         22  cause and try to advance it.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Croghan.

         25                 I received this letter from the
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          2  Administration, which they, of course, are opposing

          3  this bill. And they cite some major problems, and

          4  maybe I can read, there's three major objections

          5  that they have, actually four, and I'm going to read

          6  one at a time and see if maybe you can address each

          7  objection.

          8                 MR. CROGHAN: My pleasure.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Let's see,

         10  first, Intro. 504, conflicts with the provisions of

         11  the State Civil Service Law governing reduction in

         12  force.

         13                 Employees in classified titles are to

         14  be laid off in order of seniority. There is no

         15  allowance for the Civil Service Law for any employee

         16  with low seniority to avoid this consequence by

         17  electing leave of absence in lieu of a layoff.

         18                 MR. CROGHAN: They are playing cute on

         19  that question.

         20                 I'm not talking about something they

         21  don't have the right to do already. They already

         22  have the right to give furloughs. They, in fact,

         23  exercise that right whenever they choose to.

         24                 One of the sad things which the

         25  Organization of Staff Analysts has not only noted
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          2  but has explained to management repeatedly in this

          3  discussion is you already give a voluntary leave of

          4  absence to anyone you really, really, really love or

          5  really, really, really hate. It's the ones in the

          6  middle who are just doing their job that can never

          7  get a voluntary leave of absence. The ones who are

          8  not known as extremely bad or extremely good, can't

          9  get a voluntary leave of absence.

         10                 If they have the power and ability

         11  right now to give voluntary leaves of absence, and

         12  if they have a problem with paying salaries, they

         13  need not worry about conflicts of state law since

         14  they already have the power to give leaves of

         15  absence without any reference to state laws, or

         16  seniority or anything of the sort.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: So do you agree

         18  with the last statement here, that if a person is on

         19  leave of absence and they are in the lowest

         20  seniority, they could be laid off while they're on

         21  leave?

         22                 MR. CROGHAN: Oh, to be sure. If that

         23  were an occurrence that occurred, yes. But the other

         24  half of it is, since we're coming up with these

         25  furloughs to avoid the need for the layoffs, that's
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          2  sort of like giving themselves two bites of the

          3  apple there.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: There's no

          5  legal hindering, in your opinion, on laying off

          6  someone who is on leave?

          7                 MR. CROGHAN: Unfortunately, I know

          8  there isn't. They absolutely can lay a person off

          9  who is on leave of absence if they have to go that

         10  route.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Okay.

         12                 The second objection here is that

         13  Intro. 504 purports to confer pension credits for

         14  years of service when an employee has not been

         15  working.

         16                 This is in conflict with the

         17  provisions of the State Retirement and Social

         18  Security Law, and provisions of the Administrative

         19  Law that were enacted by the State Legislature. The

         20  Council has no authority to legislate with regard to

         21  pension credit.

         22                 MR. CROGHAN: If that were the only

         23  problems that they had, I'm sure we could work

         24  something out that would not conflict with the law.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: One of my
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          2  suggestions was, how about, how do you feel about

          3  the employee contributing to their own pension?

          4                 MR. CROGHAN: As I'm sure Councilman

          5  would guess ahead of time, that would be part of any

          6  discussions that would occur.

          7                 I mean, if the City found a way to

          8  allow the people legally to contribute both sides of

          9  that equation in order to pay for it, then I'm sure

         10  that would be a preferred way to go, on the part of

         11  many people involved. But, again, I'm wide open to

         12  suggestions on that one, because the key thing here

         13  is to give them the chance to take the furloughs,

         14  not necessarily to the exact terms of it. As long as

         15  it is a voluntary furlough, as long as they have

         16  jobs to come back to.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: The third

         18  objection, that 504 affects terms and conditions

         19  that are not already exclusively governed by the

         20  State Law provisions described above, such as the

         21  health benefits to be offered to employees while on

         22  leave for up to two years, it attempts to legislate

         23  in the area of terms and conditions of employment,

         24  which are the subject of collective bargaining under

         25  the Taylor Law and New York City Collective
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          2  Bargaining Law. The Council cannot unilaterally

          3  change terms and conditions of employment which are

          4  subject to collective bargaining.

          5                 MR. CROGHAN: Again, as with the

          6  pension benefits, the truth of the matter here is

          7  that they actually have room for discussion. There

          8  is a federal law called Cobra which is available to

          9  any person laid off, and I assume would be available

         10  to anybody else. If it turns out that the City of

         11  New York was enthusiastically willing to endorse

         12  this law with some changes, we would be very willing

         13  to talk.

         14                 Our problem here is that we are

         15  currently in a situation where they have turned down

         16  every offer that was more generous than the one

         17  that's included in the law here, and the truth is if

         18  you're writing this up the appropriate way, which is

         19  the way we have done it, but they're having problems

         20  with the ways that it's been done. It's open to

         21  discussion and we're willing to discuss slight

         22  changes along the way, so long as the final idea

         23  gets put through.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: But in order to

         25  get Cobra, you would have to be terminated from

                                                            17

          1  CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  employment. We're talking about a leave of absence

          3  where there is no termination.

          4                 MR. CROGHAN: I don't know if that's

          5  actually the case. If you're on medical leave, if

          6  you're on sick leave you can get Cobra too.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: You can get

          8  Cobra on sick leave?

          9                 MR. CROGHAN: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Okay.

         11                 And the fourth and final one I'm

         12  going to mention here is, to the extent the bill

         13  affects terms and conditions of employment subject

         14  to collective bargaining, it impinges on the Mayor's

         15  authority to conduct labor negotiations on behalf of

         16  the City, and thus curtails a mayor's power and

         17  could not take effect without a referendum if it did

         18  not have other legal defects described above.

         19                 And we don't know if that's exactly

         20  true or not, if there has to be a referendum to make

         21  this change. According to the Mayor's Office, they

         22  claim there should be a referendum on the ballot.

         23                 MR. CROGHAN: In response to the

         24  fourth one, which I'm probably the least able to

         25  respond to that one, compared to the other three,
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          2  but in response to that one, is this their only

          3  objection, that they don't have any other objection?

          4  That's a silly thing to say. That this is some how

          5  interfering with their ability? They've been

          6  involved with collective bargaining. We've had this

          7  discussion, we've gone back and forth. They haven't

          8  even found a single objection to the ultimatum

          9  across the table by myself, and yet now they're

         10  saying, oh, but that would interfere with collective

         11  bargaining? I'm sorry, sometimes it turns out that

         12  they don't intend to bargain in good faith, and they

         13  intend to make a mistake, which hurts the City of

         14  New York, I don't see why the City Council wouldn't

         15  have a right to say something about that and have a

         16  finger in the pie on this one. I think, in fact,

         17  it's to the public good that they would do so.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: The Mayor's

         19  Office seem to be of the opinion that it's

         20  infringing on the Mayor's power somehow, and since

         21  it's infringing on its power, we must go and then

         22  have a referendum, even if we did correct the other

         23  issues of employees paying for their own health

         24  benefits, employees paying into their own pension,

         25  they think that's somehow infringing on their

                                                            19

          1  CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  authority of collective bargaining.

          3                 MR. CROGHAN: I can't summon a lot of

          4  sympathy for their defense, if their defense

          5  consists of they have a right to be stupid, make a

          6  mistake, and hurt people for no purpose.

          7                 And if I'm infringing upon their

          8  authority to be stupid and hurt people for no

          9  purpose, I'm really sorry I'm infringing upon their

         10  authority, but I certainly can't find anything in my

         11  mind to justify their having any right to be angry

         12  about that. They have no right to be doing what

         13  they've been doing. They are simply wrong in what

         14  they've been doing. They have not even tried to

         15  defend it, and apparently even today I'm having to

         16  bring up technicalities of don't interfere with my

         17  power to do the wrong thing. That's not a persuasive

         18  argument.

         19                 If I had enough people to avoid the

         20  layoffs, as the Mayor says out loud he doesn't want

         21  the layoffs, then why won't he tell the truth and

         22  avoid the layoffs? Those people were actually hurt.

         23  Those were wronged people, they're still out there

         24  now. I know people who needed the time off for very

         25  good reasons, and they weren't given that time.
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          2                 This Mayor hides behind collective

          3  bargaining to tell us that he could be asked not to

          4  do the right thing, because after all, how dare we

          5  ask him to do the right thing.

          6                 How can you dare hide behind such a

          7  thing? He would lose and he would lose

          8  overwhelmingly. No one could find any sense behind

          9  causing some people to suffer for no reason. There

         10  is no logic to that position whatsoever. And if this

         11  is something they want to hide behind, boy would

         12  they lose the referendum.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Council Member

         14  Stewart, do you have a question?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you.

         16  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         17                 In this bill, some of the critics are

         18  claiming that you can't get a true estimate for the

         19  fiscal impact that it will have on the City, and,

         20  so, it may in essence cause more layoffs. That's

         21  what they think. How do you answer?

         22                 MR. CROGHAN: There are provisions in

         23  this bill that can and should be there which would

         24  certainly have a fiscal impact upon the City. The

         25  City is paying for the health benefits, the City is
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          2  paying the pension cost of the people being put on

          3  furlough, that has a fiscal impact.

          4                 On the other hand, it's also not an

          5  unreasonable way to go, if they chose to go that

          6  way. If you stripped all of those fiscal impacts out

          7  of this bill, there would be no cost to the City

          8  whatsoever, which is exactly what they were offered

          9  in the past, and they have very recently turned

         10  down. In fact, it turns out, if I do the arithmetic,

         11  they had to lay off more people recently because

         12  instead of doing furloughs at no cost, they chose to

         13  pay unemployment insurance to people they laid off.

         14                 I don't know what the cost of 3,000

         15  sets of unemployment insurance would work out to,

         16  and how many of the 26 weeks they all had to collect

         17  of it, but certainly we could have saved

         18  considerable numbers of layoffs if we could have

         19  just saved on the unemployment insurance.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: You said that

         21  in 1991, Mayor Dinkins had a voluntary leave of

         22  absence without pay. How does that compare to what

         23  we are trying to enact now? How did that achieve

         24  that? Was it by legislation of just policy? Because

         25  if it was just legislation, why is it not there now?
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          2  Why is it that we can't use it now without doing the

          3  legislation?

          4                 MR. CROGHAN: Okay, to review a very

          5  old story, but I can review it because this is fresh

          6  in my mind because I had mailings back then and I

          7  read them all up.

          8                 Initially what occurred was the Mayor

          9  Dinkins Administration ran into a very unexpected

         10  financial shortfall. They weren't expecting it to

         11  happen and they were quite panicky about the fact

         12  that the Emergency Financial Control Board might

         13  become triggered.

         14                 One of their first responses was to

         15  suggest a voluntary layoff, a voluntary furlough of

         16  people. This, of course, would be contrary to the

         17  collective bargaining rules, but on the other hand,

         18  in a situation where the City was really in danger

         19  of going bankrupt, it was a good possibility that it

         20  might go forward.

         21                 Since we were not forced to seriously

         22  consider the possibility of involuntary furloughs,

         23  we then in turn began thinking of voluntary

         24  furloughs.

         25                 When the involuntary furloughs did
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          2  not surface, layoffs did. And as the layoffs began,

          3  they began slowly and then grew. It was as if they

          4  all hit at once, it was a small number, followed by

          5  a large number, followed by a larger number. So, it

          6  was growing over a period of months.

          7                 We were brought in to come up with

          8  suggestions to try to vary from just laying people

          9  off to save money. We came up with this voluntary

         10  furlough suggestion.

         11                 The City, if I could categorize it,

         12  was mildly surprised because no one had suggested

         13  this before. If the Mayor had made his suggestion

         14  first, we might not have suggested it. But we did.

         15                 They were at least willing to discuss

         16  it, but they didn't know that it would work, so they

         17  threw back into the union how do we know that this

         18  would work? And our answer was, well, we believe it

         19  will, but we're not sure. And an agreement was

         20  reached that we would survey our members to find out

         21  if in fact as many people wanted to take a leave of

         22  absence out there did exist.

         23                 We surveyed our members, and we asked

         24  them. And at that point we asked them without any

         25  credit for your pension, without any -- you have to
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          2  pay for your own health benefits, that's how we

          3  asked at that time, how many of you are willing to

          4  take a year off this year, starting on such and such

          5  a date? Immediately? How many of you are willing to

          6  do so the year after, if the fiscal crisis goes on?

          7                 It turns out we had more than enough

          8  people to cover the number of people who in fact had

          9  already been laid off. I think at the time there

         10  were 44 people laid off, or something like that, and

         11  there were, finally of them only 38 people who did

         12  get laid off. And then of those 38, we had more than

         13  38 people willing to take a vacation.

         14                 The City then took us seriously

         15  because the results of the survey had come back as

         16  they had come back. But the City gave us an

         17  additional example to go through. They said that

         18  they were willing to seriously consider this and

         19  discuss this, and they wanted us to agree as a union

         20  to take a two-day voluntary furlough on the part of

         21  all of our members, in return for their bringing

         22  these people back in the course of discussing

         23  putting in this system of furloughs in times of

         24  fiscal crisis or after.

         25                 I had to survey my membership and ask
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          2  them in a big hurry and I was delighted with my

          3  membership voting 70 percent in favor of doing this,

          4  and there was quite a few reasons why you would

          5  think they wouldn't have voted that way, because the

          6  ones voting were often civil servants, and the ones

          7  they were trying to save were often provisionals.

          8  And quite often under the Koch Administration,

          9  provisionals were brought in over civil servants, so

         10  there was that issue, but still two to one and more,

         11  they voted for, and a very heavy vote too, to take a

         12  two-day furlough to bring back these 38 people,

         13  because finally they thought it was right.

         14                 The Dinkins Administration was

         15  extremely impressed with the results of this survey

         16  and did, in fact, put into effect what turned out to

         17  be finally a one-day furlough of all of our members,

         18  because by that time 19 of the 38 had already been

         19  hired in other jobs paying as much or more that they

         20  had lost with the City. So they only brought back

         21  19.

         22                 At the end of the two months they had

         23  been brought back for, the City acknowledged that

         24  the fiscal crisis now had receded. They didn't

         25  choose to make any major changes, because for one
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          2  thing, as we finally had OMB tell us, the Dinkins

          3  Administration was trying to convince the guys in

          4  Wall Street, the bond raters, that we were shrinking

          5  in headcount and putting a person on a voluntary

          6  leave of absence which leaves them on headcount. But

          7  that if you laid a person off where they actually

          8  were gone, and instead were now hiring people on

          9  temporary lines, which didn't show up on headcount,

         10  so we had to explain that there was a little bit of

         11  conniving going on here to fool the guys on Wall

         12  Street, which we didn't much care one way or the

         13  other, but what they would do is, although they

         14  would not institute this voluntary leave of absence

         15  as an ongoing thing, they would nonetheless not lay

         16  off any of the people we had brought back, so all of

         17  those people continued in service and continue in

         18  service now to this day because they became

         19  permanent and some of them were very near

         20  retirement. That is how it occurred that time

         21  around.

         22                 It was brought up one time

         23  thereafter, and this was during the Giuliani

         24  layoffs, and we finally resolved those layoffs

         25  without having either furloughs or any kinds of
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          2  redeployments in that situation, but it was a

          3  different situation entirely. It wasn't fiscal at

          4  all.

          5                 This latest time around we had no

          6  reason in the world to imagine they would turn us

          7  down, and I've had to write letters to my members,

          8  the answer I've given since I received not one word

          9  of explanation what was wrong with the suggestions,

         10  in all of the very many meetings I attended with the

         11  City, is that the Mayor felt he had to punish us for

         12  not have given him $600 million in lost recurring

         13  monies that we would never get back, and since we

         14  wouldn't give that he had to punish us to show that

         15  he was a tough guy or something. But I found no

         16  other reason for what he did because we could save

         17  him more money than he ended up saving. He obviously

         18  didn't care about that at all.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: You also

         20  mentioned the fact of the health insurance, that

         21  you're saying that the unions are willing to pick up

         22  Cobra, and pick up the insurance; is that your

         23  suggestion?

         24                 MR. CROGHAN: My suggestion is that

         25  happens to be the difference between this bill
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          2  passing and this bill not passing. We want the bill

          3  passed.

          4                 Again, if I was the Mayor, which I'm

          5  not, but if I was the Mayor, there's nothing really

          6  wrong with the provisions in the bill either. They

          7  do have a fiscal impact but it's relatively minor

          8  compared to the effects of layoffs. But I'm not the

          9  Mayor.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I am of the

         11  opinion that we can do a lot more, and so I'm going

         12  to try to reach out to the Mayor's side and see if

         13  we can have some sort of a sit-down negotiation as

         14  to have a bill that everyone will at least accept,

         15  because if there are ambiguities that they feel are

         16  in this bill, I would like us to flush it out and

         17  make sure that both sides understand. And I'm not of

         18  the opinion that we should just push on something

         19  and not have any negotiations. So, I'm going to

         20  reach out to them to make sure that they understand

         21  our side and we understand where they're coming

         22  from, and maybe we can come to some sort of an

         23  amicable conclusion and have a good bill.

         24                 MR. CROGHAN: We would be very pleased

         25  if that would happen, sir.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Croghan.

          4                 MR. CROGHAN: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: The Chair now

          6  calls on Thomas Anderson.  I'd like to recognize

          7  we've been joined by Council Member Gallagher from

          8  Queens.

          9                 Please state your name for the

         10  record, sir.

         11                 MR. ANDERSON: My name is Thomas

         12  Anderson. I'm here on behalf of the Civil Service

         13  Merit Council. Also for the sake of being fair about

         14  representing myself, I'm (a) an officer of the

         15  Organizer of Staff Analysts, and I'm a long-term

         16  civil servant in this City, having worked for it

         17  since 1968.

         18                 The Civil Service Merit Council has a

         19  simple statement to make, and that is we support

         20  this movement, and as I've listened to the

         21  conversation that you've had with Mr. Croghan, we

         22  would also feel that any movement along here is

         23  progress.

         24                 It is the position of the Civil

         25  Service Merit Council that a civil servant is a part
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          2  of the working assets of the City. It is not just

          3  simply chattle. The people who work for the City for

          4  any length of time are not easily replaceable.

          5                 As you know, having become City

          6  Councilmen, and probably having had elected

          7  officers, there is always a period at the beginning

          8  of your job when you don't know where the bathrooms

          9  are, where you don't know what forms you have to

         10  fill out, where you don't really know what it is you

         11  have to do. You quickly learn, and the more times

         12  that you do it, you learn faster and faster and

         13  eventually you become very skilled at moving into a

         14  position.

         15                 Every time you lay off a person and

         16  you cannot replace them, when your crisis is over,

         17  with a person who has the skills, who have to go

         18  through that learning curve one more time, it cost

         19  in terms of productivity. It costs the City and

         20  you're wasting your assets. What this proposal does,

         21  as far as I can see, is to lend the civil servant in

         22  the marketplace, in order to cut your cost and it

         23  seems to me that that is a very good capitalistic

         24  way of managing the crisis.

         25                 A financial crisis is always a manner
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          2  of a governmental failure, it was a failure to plan.

          3  It is not a new issue, there is the story of the

          4  grain in the pharaoh's warehouse, and just a stream

          5  about it and how he dealt with it. If the pharaoh

          6  hadn't planned, he would have faced the crisis of

          7  famine for years, and by planning ahead, by making

          8  sure that at a time of fiscal crisis we have a

          9  process, where we don't lose as many civil servants,

         10  trained people who know how things are done and can

         11  help our City to go, we're just wasting our assets.

         12                 Getting the people who want to do

         13  this, who want to leave civil service for a short

         14  period of time, or up to a two-year period, and

         15  taking instead those people who are going to be

         16  really hurt the most and who are going to walk and

         17  go elsewhere, is a waste of that energy and time

         18  that we put into developing them as a core or

         19  workforce for the City. So, the civil service merit

         20  council believe's this is not in the best interest

         21  of our City. We have a better way. We think it's

         22  something that you gentlemen have come up with here,

         23  and we totally support you for it.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you.
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          2                 Are there any questions?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:

          5                 Sir, we have some questions for you.

          6                 MR. ANDERSON: Oh, sure.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So, basically

          8  you're saying that any negotiation, any effort to

          9  work on this is going to be beneficial, but as you

         10  see the bill right now, do you see anything that you

         11  don't, as a civil servant, that you don't really

         12  like that you feel that you can improve on?

         13                 MR. ANDERSON: Oh, there are probably

         14  many ways to improve on it, but the problem is you

         15  always have to make choices along the way as to what

         16  you're doing, and as I see this bill, it is focused

         17  strictly on the issue of what do you do in a time of

         18  crisis where you have to cut back on the size of the

         19  City workforce and don't we have a better way of at

         20  least alleviating part of the problem.

         21                 And from that narrow point of view,

         22  which is what I see as the second part of the two

         23  provisions in here, from that point of view, I think

         24  this really does meet many of the needs of the bill.

         25                 We, the Civil Service Merit Council,
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          2  believes that probably much more work should be done

          3  in terms of making a reasonable proposal for letting

          4  all levels of civil service use a furlough system

          5  when they have needs along that line.

          6                 Right now it is usually a matter of

          7  our friends of the Commissioner who usually get

          8  their leave of absence because they are intensely

          9  invaluable, and they may be intensely invaluable, so

         10  is the clerk at the bottom of the line who does a

         11  unique job and who understands what the needs of

         12  clerking are, it's true it's not the same as what

         13  you need to know to make the decisions about the

         14  purchasing, but nevertheless, there is expertise

         15  there and a person who already knows it.

         16                 When you toss that person away, when

         17  you say we don't really care about you, and even

         18  though we have better alternatives we could pursue,

         19  we would prefer to just scrap you. That person (a)

         20  is not likely to return; (b) when he returns is

         21  going to be very resentful. Everyone can understand

         22  that in a situation where you have to save money

         23  because you just don't have it, that some sacrifices

         24  have to be made, and some of us can accept the fact

         25  that we may be the victim in that situation. But we
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          2  also do see when an effort is made to keep things

          3  reasonable.

          4                 There are provisions that are good

          5  along the way in the way we do things, that's why we

          6  have preferred less, that's why we try to take

          7  people back. But if we have a situation which

          8  provides and extends that to, yes, and besides that,

          9  we'll take the volunteers first, and we'll let them

         10  take a leave of absence, and this may cut down, I

         11  think your civil servants will see that as a

         12  situation where their city cares for them, and they

         13  will care more for the City as a result.

         14                 So, again, just in terms of what this

         15  legislation says it's trying to do, I think it

         16  pretty well meets the need. I did want to address

         17  also the fiscal aspect. In the fiscal aspect the

         18  City does spend money on the people who were laid

         19  off. They cost the City in any case before the

         20  Mayor's Office makes claims that it's strictly a

         21  fiscal issue I would look at those figures very

         22  closely. The unemployment insurance problems also

         23  cost along the line, and there are ways to keep this

         24  so that it's certainly a reasonable thing.

         25                 If you could save 90 percent, for
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          2  instance, of a person's salary, by letting them go

          3  off on this score, on voluntary leave, why not do

          4  that if your real objective is to save money.

          5                 The Civil Service Merit Council, in

          6  its history of 35 years, has seen often that the

          7  real issue is not saving money; the real issue is

          8  making a political splash by hurting as many people

          9  as we can.

         10                 We oppose that. We think that it's

         11  wrong to hurt people for the sake of hurting people

         12  so that you get credit for being mean and nasty.

         13                 We believe that it is far better to

         14  solve the real problem at hand and do it rationally

         15  as possible.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: My other

         17  question, my other concern was that, earlier -- the

         18  earlier speaker spoke about -- well, not really the

         19  earlier speaker, my chair read something from the

         20  Mayor's Office stating that it had to do with folks

         21  who had taken leave of absence and it's illegal. But

         22  you're saying basically there are some folks who are

         23  the higher level of the civil servants that get the

         24  voluntary leave that can take it?

         25                 MR. ANDERSON: Right. Particularly in

                                                            36

          1  CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  this circumstance, you see. When it comes down to

          3  layoffs they're pretty well protected out there.

          4  They don't see the door because it's a fiscal

          5  matter, because they're protected. What they do is

          6  find that, oh, it is time now for them to write

          7  their novel, gee, boss, can't you do without me for

          8  six months? Or my mother has a real difficult time,

          9  she has a bad case of arthritis and has to get set

         10  up in a protected environment and I need that time

         11  to do that, the boss is very sympathetic because he

         12  knows this person as a friend.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: That's not

         14  against the law.

         15                 MR. ANDERSON: And that's not against

         16  the law. They could do that. They can do that and

         17  they will help them do that. We need you in City

         18  government. You want to take that course in

         19  Administration, we'll work out finding leave for

         20  you. But when it comes down to somebody, the boss

         21  says, now, I don't think this is unnatural, I mean,

         22  you know, the Commissioner is unlikely to know the

         23  clerk who does the record keeping, but that clerk

         24  says, hey, I would really need the time because my

         25  mother is sick, her mother is no sicker than anyone
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          2  else's. Her mother also needs someone to pay

          3  attention to them. This person may be saying, I'll

          4  do it out of my pocket. I'm not asking you to pay

          5  for this, but because she is a friend of the

          6  Commissioner, one is a friend of the Commissioner

          7  and one is not, it is the most natural thing in the

          8  world for the Commissioner to take care of his

          9  friends.

         10                 We think everybody sees that. The

         11  Civil Service Merit Council's proposition is we want

         12  a rational situation where people see that it is not

         13  a matter of privilege at all times, that privilege

         14  rules the day, but that while the needs of the City

         15  are taken care of, and we often see people will say

         16  in an agency, oh, yeah, well, the Commissioner's

         17  right-hand man, he really needed that leave, and the

         18  clerk at the bottom is told, oh, no, we need you

         19  really desperately. Now, that's patently absurd. If

         20  the man at the top is not needed but the person at

         21  the bottom is needed, what are we saying about the

         22  competence of the people at the top, as well as what

         23  are we saying about the person at the bottom and the

         24  extraordinary skills we're now alleging that no one

         25  else in the agency can do?
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          2                 So, I think that what we really do

          3  see here is a situation which has nothing to do with

          4  good governance in the City, but rather has to do

          5  with the thrill of privilege and management, the

          6  thrill of being able to be the boss and to run the

          7  world as a mini God. We don't think that's in the

          8  interest of democracy, we don't think it's in the

          9  interest of the people of the City of New York, we

         10  certainly don't believe it's in the interest of the

         11  civil servants.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Well, that

         13  point has really thrilled me, because I always want

         14  to know, and like to work and let people know that I

         15  pride myself in trying to be the voice of the

         16  voiceless, and if you're saying that it's really

         17  going to help the lower class, lower level of people

         18  within the civil servants, to give them an

         19  opportunity, the same opportunity that the top

         20  people have, I feel much more proud to be a sponsor

         21  of this bill, I feel much more at ease to at least

         22  work very hard to make sure that this works.

         23                 MR. ANDERSON: Yes. And no one is

         24  asking the City to sacrifice legitimate need for a

         25  worker. If the City is saying to a worker we really
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          2  can't let you go at this time, because we have

          3  something going, can you wait for six months -- this

          4  is often what a person can deal with. When my mother

          5  got into her late seventies and was talking about

          6  moving into a retirement proposition, she asked me

          7  how much time could I spend with her. Well, I didn't

          8  have any leave time at the time. I couldn't go spend

          9  time with her and I would have been perfectly

         10  willing to have gone somewhat into debt to do it,

         11  but I also needed my job, and she would have

         12  probably forbidden me in any case if it had been a

         13  proposition of that sort.

         14                 So, however, I would have been deeply

         15  appreciative if it had been a matter where there was

         16  a right.

         17                 I must say, however, that that is

         18  pushing beyond what I see here, which is really a

         19  response to the fiscal needs, and which is what I

         20  think, fiscal needs of the City in the time of a

         21  crisis, which I was really focusing on. I do think

         22  there is a need for better ways of coping overall

         23  with the needs of individuals and preserving what I

         24  do think, preserving the workforce and making it as

         25  functional as possible.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: The Chair

          3  recognizes Council Member Gallagher.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Thank you.

          5                 MR. ANDERSON: Thank you very much.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: First I

          7  want to say to those who were here and present at

          8  the last meeting, like I was, and the meeting was

          9  cancelled without any notification for that, I know

         10  that I'm sorry that the meeting didn't occur, but I

         11  certainly thank you for coming back again today to

         12  offer testimony. I thought that that was

         13  inappropriate that the Council cancelled that

         14  meeting in such a fashion, and I'm sorry that those

         15  of you who were here had to go through the

         16  inconvenience of coming down to City Hall and not

         17  having your voices heard.

         18                 But having said that, I just want to

         19  make a comment on my concern with this legislation.

         20                 I am concerned with the fiscal aspect

         21  of this legislation, and I do believe that it

         22  probably needs a lot more negotiation.

         23                 As I read the legislation, and please

         24  correct me if you believe that I'm wrong, you are

         25  calling for or requesting a leave of absence in
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          2  which we will credit service time during the period

          3  of the leave of absence and continue with all

          4  medical expenses, as written in the legislation; is

          5  that correct?

          6                 MR. ANDERSON: I think that would be

          7  in many ways ideal, but it's not necessary.

          8                 The Cobra legislation, for instance,

          9  would cover some time, and perhaps something could

         10  be worked out. In some of these cases, for instance,

         11  where it actually works out to be a family illness,

         12  a family need, I don't see any reason why it

         13  wouldn't immediately be coverable by a person

         14  couldn't cover a year of the time with Cobra.

         15  Perhaps the proposition should be that the employees

         16  should be left high and dry for a period of the

         17  time, or the City would try to save those costs. The

         18  City would save some money in any case, the question

         19  is how much would be --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: What

         21  numbers do you have that show --

         22                 MR. ANDERSON: I'm sorry, sir, I don't

         23  have any figures with me today. In fact, I was a

         24  little unprepared --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: But you're
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          2  stating as a matter of fact that the City would save

          3  money?

          4                 MR. ANDERSON: Sure, it would save.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: What

          6  studies have you utilized to come to that

          7  conclusion?

          8                 MR. ANDERSON: Well, because they

          9  wouldn't be paying a salary. The minimum salary

         10  somewhere in the City has got to be $20,000, the

         11  fringe benefits come to roughly about a quarter of

         12  that, counting the pension and everything, quarter

         13  to a third.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: You know,

         15  one of the concerns that I have that if you're

         16  facing --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: There is no

         18  need to be confrontational with the witness.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: I don't

         20  believe that I'm being confrontational whatsoever.

         21                 MR. ANDERSON: No, I understand his --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Mr.

         23  Chairman, you know, please allow me to question in

         24  any capacity in which I have. I have a great deal of

         25  respect for the witness, and if I didn't have

                                                            43

          1  CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  respect for the witness, quite frankly, I would not

          3  be asking him questions, I would be doing my own

          4  research. But I am entitled to ask him questions

          5  that I choose.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Sure. Continue.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: So if you

          8  would please refrain from doing that again, I would

          9  certainly appreciate it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: I will ask you

         11  to refrain from being confrontational with the

         12  witness.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: I don't

         14  believe that I am being confrontational.

         15                 Does the witness believe that I'm

         16  being confrontational?

         17                 MR. ANDERSON: Well, I'll accept your

         18  assurance that you're not.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Thank you.

         20                 MR. ANDERSON: I think, just so we

         21  understand what the playing field is here, I did not

         22  go through figures on this, and I don't have access

         23  to the exact figures, and over the many years that I

         24  have known working in my agency and elsewhere, we've

         25  been told to assume that the total fringe cost comes
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          2  probably a third of a person's salary, and so that I

          3  would therefore --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: You have a

          5  percentage, one third?

          6                 MR. ANDERSON: That's what I've always

          7  been taught as a civil servant working in an agency

          8  for the City of New York, when we talked about the

          9  cost of a project, the people involved, that we

         10  would assume that the fringes would come to roughly

         11  35 percent, 30 percent, in that area, depending on

         12  the situation.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Do you

         14  believe that that's one thing that may be

         15  negotiable?

         16                 MR. ANDERSON: Oh, certainly.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Okay,

         18  because I know when Council Member Stewart had asked

         19  you how can we make it better, from the City's

         20  perspective and in the fact that we sometimes are,

         21  you know, we look at the deficits and the amount,

         22  and we also look at the burden that we've placed on

         23  working families by increasing taxation over the

         24  last two fiscal years, you could see that we should

         25  be looking at alternatives.
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          2                 MR. ANDERSON: Right. And by the way,

          3  some of those taxpayers are civil servants.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Yes,

          5  absolutely, that's what I said, working families. I

          6  agree wholeheartedly that they are.

          7                 MR. ANDERSON: Right.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: I have

          9  concerns, because I would like to see, according to

         10  this bill and my reading of it, if somebody has 18

         11  years in and they need 20 to go out, they could 18

         12  years, do 20, get credited time on a period of time,

         13  could work elsewhere, and make money, and the City

         14  of New York will be having the benefit and then

         15  giving them the 20-year full vested retirement.

         16                 You know, I think that there are

         17  flaws in it. I think that it's ultimately layoff --

         18  I would certainly in most cases support furloughs

         19  over layoffs. I don't want to see City workers being

         20  laid off in the City of New York. It's difficult

         21  enough to make ends meet, and it's going to have to

         22  go out and make a living and find another job, it's

         23  a difficult market out there.

         24                 I just don't know that it's

         25  economically feasible to do all that this
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          2  legislation wants us to do. And that was my point,

          3  Mr. Chairman, and it wasn't an intent to be

          4  confrontational, and I appreciate your being

          5  straightforward with me in this regard.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you, Mr.

          7  Gallagher.

          8                 MR. ANDERSON: I should say the Civil

          9  Service Merit Council does understand that, you

         10  know, we're not saying that we have to have, and

         11  that we think the only way of going is this intact.

         12  However, as we stated, it is a move forward, and we

         13  do think that if you went the whole route and looked

         14  at the whole thing you might find that although you

         15  wouldn't save quite as much money by keeping many of

         16  these provisions, and you would still save quite a

         17  bit, whether indeed you could say to people take the

         18  leave of absence, but you don't get service time.

         19  That's certainly something that has been done. It

         20  may require other legislation to do that, but there

         21  are ways of doing that too.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Mr. Anderson,

         23  you mentioned before the pension, and I know other

         24  witnesses, Mr. Croghan said that there could be a

         25  compromise to have the employee contribute into
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          2  their own pension as well; how do you feel about

          3  that?

          4                 MR. ANDERSON: Well, it's interesting

          5  because, of course, the person will be in a fairly

          6  vulnerable position, having given up salary, and may

          7  not be able to do that. But it may be a situation

          8  where in fact you could say, and I would investigate

          9  that, listen, you can either have this   with

         10  continuing pension benefit, that is pension accrual,

         11  the pension credit, in which case we would expect

         12  you to pay for it, or you can have this without the

         13  pension credit, and in which case we wouldn't charge

         14  you. That seems to me to be certainly a reasonable

         15  compromise along the way that might solve that

         16  problem, because I do understand that is a problem.

         17                 My personal belief is you would

         18  probably do well just to keep the person in the

         19  pension system all the way along the line because in

         20  terms of the civil servants, I tend to believe that

         21  they're worth every penny that you can afford them.

         22                 On the other hand, I do understand

         23  the needs of the City government in terms of money.

         24  This is all about money. I hope. I hope that's what

         25  the layoffs problem is, it's a response in a
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          2  rational sense to the money issues created by a

          3  fiscal crisis.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: If we could

          5  compromise and have the employee pay for their own

          6  health cost and contribute to their own pension,

          7  then there will be no cost, zero cost to the City at

          8  all, and there should be no objection to the idea of

          9  what this bill --

         10                 MR. ANDERSON: The only objection that

         11  I have consistently seen from the City on such

         12  matters, mostly in my capacity as a union officer is

         13  that they really hate to give up anything that they

         14  think you want because they think they can make you

         15  pay more for it. And that is a principal of meanness

         16  that I think really overall hurts the City, and it

         17  has always been a firm belief of mine, in the field

         18  of labor relations, when something will benefit both

         19  sides of the situation, to try to use that to gain

         20  an unfair advantage is ultimately destructive of

         21  good relationships.

         22                 I've recently heard a law professor

         23  from Boston who pointed out that most contracts are

         24  the scar tissue of relationships between an employer

         25  and the employee. If the employer was perfect, there
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          2  would be no need of a contract. If the employee was

          3  perfect, there would be no need of a contract, and

          4  every clause reflects a failing between the two of

          5  them.

          6                 In this particular issue, this

          7  proposal is in part a fact of scar tissue. That is

          8  our employer does not believe in doing what is best

          9  for everybody, unless he can gain an advantage, even

         10  when it's in his own interest. I think that's very,

         11  very poor human dynamics and a very bad way to run

         12  the City.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Anderson.

         15                 MR. ANDERSON: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Okay, this

         17  concludes the meeting of the Committee on Civil

         18  Service and Labor.

         19                 Thank you all for joining us.

         20                 (Hearing concluded at 12:00 p.m.)

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            50

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 12th day of December 2003.

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

                                                            51

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24                 -----------------------

                              CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

         25

